
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

GREENVILLE DIVISION 
 
 
 
____________________________________  
The Michelin Retirement Plan, et al., : C.A. No. 6:16-cv-03604-HMH-JDA 
      : 
   Plaintiffs,  : 
      :  
  v.    :  
      :  
Dilworth Paxson LLP, et al.,  : 
      :  
   Defendants.  :  
____________________________________  
 
 

REPLY MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT 
OF DEFENDANTS DILWORTH PAXSON LLP’S AND TIMOTHY B. 

ANDERSON’S MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS 
 

On November 10, 2016, Plaintiffs The Michelin Retirement Plan (the “Plan”) and the 

Investment Committee of the Michelin Retirement Plan (“Investment Committee”) (the Plan and 

Investment Committee are referred to, collectively, as “Plaintiffs”) initiated this action against, 

inter alia, Dilworth Paxson LLP (“Dilworth”) and one of its former partners, Timothy B. 

Anderson (“Anderson”) (Dilworth and Anderson are referred to, collectively, as the “DP 

Defendants”). 

On February 9, 2017, the DP Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss, with supporting 

Memorandum of Law and exhibits (the “DP Defendants’ Memo”).  The DP Defendants’ Memo 

raises a number of infirmities with respect to Plaintiffs’ two claims against them including: 

(1) lack of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

12(b)(1);  

(2) lack of personal jurisdiction pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2);  
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(3) improper venue pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(3); and  

(4) failure to state a claim pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). 

On March 10, 2017, Plaintiffs filed their Response to Motion to Dismiss by Dilworth 

Paxson LLP and Timothy B. Anderson (“Plaintiffs’ Opposition”).  Plaintiffs’ Opposition is filled 

with “facts” and theories of recovery they never alleged in their Complaint and depends on 

documents which hurt, not help, their claims.  The DP Defendants file this reply memorandum to 

highlight the most egregious errors in Plaintiffs’ Opposition.   

ARGUMENT 

1. THIS COURT LACKS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION 

 “[P]laintiff bears the burden to establish subject matter jurisdiction.”  Kimble v. Rajpal, 

566 Fed. Appx. 261, 262 (4th Cir. 2014).  A subject matter challenge may take the form of a 

“facial challenge” by asserting that the complaint fails to allege facts sufficient to support subject 

matter jurisdiction, or a “factual challenge.”  Id.  When assessing facial challenges, the Court 

“must evaluate the complaint in the same manner utilized in assessing a motion to dismiss for 

failure to state a claim – that is, viewing the well-pleaded facts in the complaint as true.”  Id.  By 

contrast, when considering a factual challenge, “the district court is to regard the pleadings’ 

allegations as mere evidence on the issue, and may consider evidence outside the pleadings 

without converting the proceeding to one for summary judgment.”  Richmond, Fredricksburg & 

Potomac R. Co. v. United States, 945 F.2d 765, 768 (4th Cir. 1991). 

Here, the DP Defendants lodged both a facial challenge and a factual challenge to the 

Court’s subject matter jurisdiction.  First, the DP Defendants argued that Plaintiffs failed to 

allege that the Plan is either a fiduciary, beneficiary or participant under ERISA and, therefore, 

the Plan may not proceed on the Second Cause of Action for violation of Section 502(a)(3) of 

ERISA.  DP Defendants’ Memo, pp. 12-13.  Despite a 35 page Opposition, Plaintiffs have no 
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response to this argument.1  Accordingly, the DP Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the Second 

Cause of Action as to Plaintiff Plan should be granted. 

The DP Defendants also facially attacked the Investment Committee’s characterization of 

itself as a “fiduciary” because its own allegations proved the opposite.  Id., pp. 13-14.  In 

response to this challenge, the Investment Committee claims it is a fiduciary under ERISA citing 

Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S.Ct. 1540, 1548 (2016) which does not address ERISA at all.  

Plaintiffs’ Opposition, p. 19.  The Investment Committee also cites, and finally attaches, the 

Investment Management Agreement by which it claims to derive its fiduciary status.  Id. and 

Exhibit P.  The Investment Committee claims that this Investment Management Agreement 

summarizes its various fiduciary roles vis a vis the assets in question and posits that the mere 

execution of this agreement renders it an ERISA fiduciary.  Id.  The problem with the Investment 

Committee’s theory is that the Investment Committee is not a signatory to the Investment 

Management Agreement upon which it relies for all of its alleged powers.  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, 

Exhibit P.  Rather, the powers the Investment Committee claims to have here are reposed in a 

completely different, non-party, named the “Michelin North America, Inc. Master Trust 

Investment Committee.”  Id.  Far from proving its fiduciary status, the Investment Committee 

very effectively proves the opposite.2 

1  Instead, Plaintiffs merely recite that a Plan may be an “entity” under ERISA.  Plaintiffs’ 
Opposition, p. 20, n. 5.   
 
2  In any event, as described by the Investment Committee, its ability to provide investment 
objectives and guidelines renders it a fiduciary under ERISA which clearly contemplates that an 
entity can be a fiduciary for some purposes and not for others.  See, e.g., Varity Corp. v. Howe, 
516 U.S. 489, 498-500, 116 S.Ct. 1065, 134 L.Ed.2d 130 (1996); Hansen v. North Trident 
Regional Hosp., Inc., 60 F. Supp.2d 523, 526 (D.S.C. 1999).  Stated differently, even assuming 
the Investment Committee was a party to the Investment Management Agreement, the relevant 
inquiry is whether it is a fiduciary “with respect to the particular activity at issue.”  Hansen, 66 
F. Supp. 2d at 526 ( emphasis added) (citation omitted).  Here, the “particular activity at issue” is 
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The DP Defendants also advanced a factual challenge to Plaintiffs’ standing because 

neither Plaintiff owned the Wakpamni Bond and because the Bond Indenture limited who could 

sue.  In response, Plaintiffs offer no affidavits or countering evidence.  Instead, Plaintiffs 

concede that they do not own the bond in question but, rather, a non-party, the Michelin North 

America Master Trust is the owner.  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, p. 18.  Neither Plaintiff alleges it is a 

Trustee for the Trust, or otherwise in control of the assets of the Trust sufficient to proceed on 

the Trust’s behalf.  Indeed, Plaintiffs admit the opposite by declaring that the Trust holds title to 

all the assets of the Plan, including those allegedly diverted.  Id.  That neither Plaintiff had 

ownership or title over the assets at issue, including the Wakpamni Bond, puts them out of court.   

The conclusion that Plaintiffs lack standing to proceed on the ERISA claims is also 

required by the terms of the Bond Indenture which unequivocally limited the ability to proceed 

on a claim relating to the Bonds to the Bond Owners.  See DP Defendants’ Memo, p. 12, n.9.  

Plaintiffs also have no response to this bar to their claims. 

II. THERE IS ALSO NO PERSONAL JURISDICTION HERE 
 
 It is well recognized that South Carolina requires out-of-state entities and individuals to 

have a minimum level of contacts with the state in order to be subject to personal jurisdiction 

here.  Plaintiffs neither dispute the minimum contacts requirement, nor the fact that those 

required minimum contacts are missing in this instance.  DP Defendants’ Memo, pp. 4-10.  

Absent the requisite contacts, Plaintiffs instead now argue that the statutory provisions of the 

the investment of bond proceeds in an annuity contract and the alleged diversion of those 
proceeds by various defendants, but not the DP Defendants.  Complaint, ¶91.  There is no 
allegation that the Investment Committee invested the bond proceeds in the Wakpamni Bond or 
otherwise was involved in directing the bond proceeds to an annuity.  Indeed, the allegations are 
that neither Plaintiff even knew about the Wakpamni Bond.  Complaint, ¶¶40, 73.  Because there 
is no evidence that the Investment Committee had the fiduciary status it claims, it cannot proceed 
on the Second Cause of Action for this reason as well. 
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long-arm statute need not be satisfied because Plaintiffs state a claim for a violation of the 

Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), 29 U.S.C. 

§1132(a)(3).  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, pp. 15-17.  As set forth above, because Plaintiffs lack 

standing to pursue a claim for an ERISA violation, ERISA’s nationwide jurisdictional reach 

cannot save Plaintiffs’ claims.   

Plaintiffs’ position also conveniently ignores their own contention that personal 

jurisdiction over the DP Defendants in this Court only existed under Code Ann. §36-2-803(d) 

and (g).”  Complaint, ¶30.  For the reasons set forth in the DP Defendants’ Memo, personal 

jurisdiction fails under the South Carolina statutes Plaintiffs previously relied upon.  DP 

Defendants’ Memo, pp. 4-10 and Exhibits 3 and 4 thereto. 

Plaintiffs new ERISA nationwide personal jurisdiction argument also depends on the 

existence of a colorable ERISA claim.  See, Denny’s, Inc. v. Cake, 364 F.3d 521, 524 (4th Cir. 

2004) (personal jurisdiction would exist “if this is a proper ERISA enforcement action—that is, 

if the court had subject matter jurisdiction over the action under 1132(a)(3).” (Emphasis in 

original)).  Here, that colorable claim does not exist because Plaintiffs are not seeking relief that 

is available under ERISA.  Specifically, Plaintiffs admit that if they are proper plaintiffs (which 

the DP Defendants contest), their relief under ERISA is limited to appropriate equitable relief as 

permitted by 29 U.S.C. §1132(a)(3).  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, p. 20.  Instead of seeking equitable 

relief, Plaintiffs seek classically legal relief including “damages” for losses to the investment 

portfolio of the Plan, “interest that this money could have accrued” and “consequential 

damages.”  Complaint, ¶136.  See, also, Complaint, ad damnum clause (a).  This is the type of 

compensatory damages rejected by the United States Supreme Court in Mertens v. Hewitt 

Associates, 508 U.S. 248, 255,113 S.Ct. 2063, 124 L.Ed.2d 161 (1993). 
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Trying to save their ERISA claim, Plaintiffs focus on a stray allegation in the Complaint 

that “the criminal conspirators … have not made and .. may never make full restitution.”  

Plaintiffs’ Opposition, at p. 20; Complaint, ¶54.  Plaintiffs also allege, for the first time and 

without any basis, that they are “entitled to the equitable remedies of accounting and 

disgorgement” and “surcharge.”  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, pp. 20, 21.   

The contortions necessary to make a vague reference to the “criminal defendants” not 

having made “restitution,” into a demand for restitution from the DP Defendants are 

extraordinary.  Of course, even assuming Plaintiffs had properly pled a request for restitution, 

there is simply no basis for that remedy against the DP Defendants.  Specifically, “for restitution 

to lie in equity, the action generally must seek not to impose personal liability on the defendant, 

but to restore to the plaintiff particular funds or property in the defendant's possession.”  Great-

West Life & Annuity Ins. Co. v. Knudson, 534 U.S. 204, 214, 122 S.Ct. 708, 151 L.Ed.2d 635 

(2002).  Here, by Plaintiffs’ own admission, the Trust (a non-party) is the entity whose funds 

were allegedly misdirected by defendant Jason Galanis.  Restitution also cannot issue absent an 

allegation, much less evidence, that the DP Defendants possess proceeds of the Trust’s bond 

purchase.  Finally, Plaintiffs acknowledge that they are not seeking to enforce “a constructive 

trust of or an equitable lien” on any funds in the DP Defendants’ possession.  Plaintiffs’ 

Opposition, p. 21.  Rather, Plaintiffs seek to impose personal liability on the DP Defendants and, 

therefore, the remedy of restitution does not lie.3 

Plaintiffs’ 11th hour request for the equitable remedies of accounting, disgorgement and 

surcharge is equally unavailing.  First, if Plaintiffs want to amend their Complaint to now seek 

3 LeBlanc v. Cahill, 153 F.3d 134 (4th Cir. 1998) does not alter this conclusion.  LeBlanc 
preceded the Supreme Court’s Knudson decision and its clarification of restitution available in 
equity for an ERISA claim under Section 502(a)(3). 
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those remedies instead of the remedies set forth in the Complaint, a procedure exists for that 

amendment, which is not through their Opposition papers.  Wahi v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., 

Inc., 562 F.3d 599, 617 (4th Cir. 2009) (plaintiff may not amend complaint through subsequent 

briefing).  See, also, Car Carriers, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 745 F.2d 1101, 1107 (7th Cir. 1984) 

(plaintiff cannot defend against a motion to dismiss by relying on new allegations in their 

Opposition that are absent from the operative pleading); Bryant v. Wells Fargo Bank Nat’l 

Association, 861 F. Supp.2d 646, 653 (E.D.N.C. 2012) (“plaintiffs may not amend their pleading 

by raising new allegations in response to a Rule 12(b)(6) motion”); Bruhl v. 

PriceWaterhouseCoopers Int’l, No. 03-23044, 2007 WL 997362, at *4 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 27, 2007) 

(same).   

Second, the remedies Plaintiffs now seek to add are not available here.  For example, 

accounting is an equitable remedy directed at “profits produced by property which in equity and 

good conscience belonged to the plaintiff.”  Pender v. Bank of America Corp., 788 F.3d 354, 364 

(4th Cir. 2015).  Here, there is no allegation that the DP Defendants produced and pocketed 

profits from proceeds belonging to the Plaintiffs and, therefore, the requisite elements for such 

relief are absent.  Knudson, 534 U.S. at 214 n. 2.  Similarly, Plaintiffs’ disgorgement case law 

states that disgorgement is limited to “when a defendant allegedly breaches its fiduciary duty, 

profits from the breach, and the beneficiary … has an individual right to the profit.”  Edmonson 

v. Lincoln Nat. Life Ins. Co., 725 F.3d 406, 418 (3d Cir. 2013).4  Likewise, the surcharge remedy 

extends “to a breach of trust committed by a fiduciary encompassing any violation of a duty 

imposed upon that fiduciary.”  Cigna Corp. v. Amara, 563 U.S. 421, 442, 131 S.Ct. 1866, 179 

L.Ed.2d 843 (2011); see Mertens, 508 U.S. at 249-250.  Here, the DP Defendants are not alleged 

4 Notably, in Edmonson, on which Plaintiffs rely, Plaintiff’s ERISA claim was also rejected. 
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to be, and aren’t, fiduciaries, they are not alleged to have breached any such duty, they are not 

alleged to have profited from any such breach, and Plaintiffs are not alleged to be beneficiaries.  

As such, Plaintiffs’ belated additional requests for relief must be rejected and their ERISA claim 

against the DP Defendants dismissed.5 

III. PLAINTIFFS ALSO CANNOT PROCEED IN THIS COURT ON THEIR  
 PENDENT CLAIM FOR PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE 
 
 Next, Plaintiffs claim that they should be permitted to proceed on a claim against the DP 

Defendants for professional negligence-legal malpractice even though the professional 

relationship from which their claim derives requires claims to be arbitrated in Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania.  In particular, Plaintiffs boldly allege that the professional negligence-legal 

malpractice claims before this Court “does not involve the relationship between Dilworth and 

Burnham Securities” and, therefore, Plaintiffs should not be bound by the arbitration clause in 

their contract.  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, p. 22.  Plaintiffs’ claim ignores the fact that an essential 

prerequisite for professional negligence-legal malpractice is the existence of that very attorney-

client relationship.  See DP Defendants’ Memo, pp. 22-23.  Plaintiffs’ argument also flies in the 

face of their Complaint which contains a number of statements about Dilworth’s retention by 

Burnham Securities and about tasks the DP Defendants undertook only as a result of the 

relationship between Dilworth and Burnham Securities.  See, e.g., Complaint, ¶16: “Dilworth’s 

engagement agreement …” “in the engagement agreement …;” “In the engagement agreement 

5 As set forth in the DP Defendants’ Memo, dismissal of the Second Cause of Action is also 
required absent any facts demonstrating that the DP Defendants acted to cause the prohibited 
transfer or affirmatively assisted, helped conceal, or by virtue of failing to act when required to 
do so enabled the fiduciary breach to proceed.  DP Defendants’ Memo, pp. 21-22.  Plaintiffs 
have not identified a single communication between the DP Defendants and the individuals 
whom they claim are fiduciaries.  Moreover, Plaintiffs did not identify a legal duty breached by 
the DP Defendants. 
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….”  In fact, the DP Defendants are only parties here because of a relationship Plaintiffs now 

argue is inconsequential. 

 The Fourth Circuit’s decision in R.J. Griffin & Co. v. Beach Club II Homeowners Ass’n, 

384 F.3d 157, 162-64 (4th Cir 2004) does not solve Plaintiffs’ incorrect venue problem.  Rather, 

Griffin reaffirmed the DP Defendants’ proposition that a party “is estopped from refusing to 

comply with an arbitration clause when it is seeking or receives a direct benefit from a contract 

containing an arbitration clause.”  384 F.3d at 161.  Applying either Pennsylvania or South 

Carolina law, Plaintiffs only have a claim for professional negligence-legal malpractice if they 

are in privity with the DP Defendants or were to receive a direct benefit from the legal services 

contract as an estate beneficiary.  DP Defendants’ Memo, pp. 16-17, 22-23.  Griffin requires 

arbitration under this very circumstance. 

IV. PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIM FOR PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE 
-LEGAL MALPRACTICE ALSO MUST BE DISMISSED 

 
 Finally, Plaintiffs claim that “an attorney-client relationship is not an absolute 

prerequisite for a claim against counsel,” citing Fabian v. Lindsay, 410 S.C. 475, 765 S.E. 2d 

132 (2014).  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, p. 29.  Fabian involved a beneficiary of an estate who was 

disinherited as a result of an error by the testator’s counsel.  That is not this situation.  Moore v. 

Weinberg, 383 S.C. 583, 681 S.E. 2d 875 (2009) also does not advance Plaintiffs’ argument.  

Moore did not involve a claim for professional negligence-legal malpractice but, rather, involved 

a claim against an escrow agent for failing to disburse escrowed funds in accordance with a 

written agreement and the agent’s independent fiduciary duties.   

 Absent cases on point, Plaintiffs argue that “Courts have found that non-clients can 

recover against attorneys for claims of negligent misrepresentations contained in the attorneys’ 

legal opinions.”  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, p. 30.  In support of this vague, previously unstated 
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theory, Plaintiffs posit that Dilworth’s “opinion” made representations about the annuity 

investment, which representations were false.  Id., at p. 32.  In fact, Dilworth issued only five 

opinions relating to the Wakpamni transaction, none of which related to the annuity.  DP 

Defendants’ Memo, pp. 23-24 and Exhibit 7 thereto.  As part of its opinion, Dilworth clearly 

stated it was assuming the proceeds would be invested as contemplated in the transaction.  

Exhibit 7 to DP Defendants’ Memo: “we have assumed that the Issuer will comply with the 

covenants set forth in the Indenture, and that the proceeds of the Bonds will be expended as 

required by and described in the Indenture, and all other relevant documents, agreements ….”  

(Emphasis added.)  This is a far cry from warranting or opining that the annuity would be 

purchased. 

The limited nature of Dilworth’s Opinions also precludes Plaintiffs from now advancing 

a negligent misrepresentation claim.  Moreover, for a negligent representation claim, Plaintiffs 

must plead and prove each of the following six elements: 

1. a false representation made by the defendant to the plaintiff; 
 
2. a pecuniary interest by the defendant in making the statement; 

 
3. a duty of care owed by the defendant to see that truthful information was communicated to 

the plaintiff; 
 

4. the defendant breached the duty by failing to exercise due care;  
 

5. the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and 
 

6. the plaintiff suffered a pecuniary loss as a direct and proximate result of reliance on the 
representation.6 
 

6 For negligent misrepresentation in Pennsylvania, Plaintiffs must prove (1) a misrepresentation 
of a material fact; (2) made under circumstances in which the misrepresenter ought to have 
known its falsity; (3) with an intent to induce another to act on it; and, (4) which results in injury 
to a party acting in justifiable reliance on the misrepresentation.  Bortz v. Noon, 556 Pa. 489, 729 
A.2d 555 (1999). 
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Hurst v. Sandy, 329 S.C. 471, 494 S.E.2d 847, 852 (Ct. App. 1997).  Here, Plaintiffs have not 

pled these required elements and certainly cannot prove each of them.  By way of example only, 

Plaintiffs allege to have been completely in the dark about the Bond transaction and, therefore, 

could not possibly prove justifiable reliance. 

To stave off dismissal Plaintiffs also claim, without support, that their professional 

negligence-legal malpractice claim “includes a claim for aiding and abetting a conversion and a 

breach of fiduciary duty.”  Plaintiffs’ Opposition, p. 33.  Notably, Plaintiffs fail to cite a single 

South Carolina state or District Court case recognizing a cause of action for “aiding and abetting 

a conversion” under South Carolina law and defense counsel could not locate any such case.  

Similarly, Plaintiffs do not cite any Pennsylvania authority establishing the existence of a claim 

for “aiding and abetting conversion” under Pennsylvania law and counsel was, likewise, unable 

to find such case law. 

Of course, it is also clear that such a claim does not exist here, even if the cause of action 

existed and its elements had been pled.  Most notably, Plaintiffs do not set forth any claim for 

conversion.  Absent that predicate claim, there can be no “aiding and abetting” liability.  

Plaintiffs’ allegations are also woefully insufficient for any “aiding and abetting” claim.  

Specifically, for “aiding and abetting” liability to exist under either South Carolina or 

Pennsylvania law, Plaintiffs must allege and prove the DP Defendants: 

(a) did a tortious act in concert with the other or pursuant to a common design 

with him; or 

(b) knows that the other’s conduct constitutes a breach of duty and gives 

substantial assistance or encouragement to the other so to conduct himself; or 

(c) gives substantial assistance to the other in accomplishing a tortious result and 

his own conduct, separately considered, constitutes a breach of duty to the third 

person. 
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Restatement (Second) Torts §876; Future Group, II v. Nationsbank, 324 S.C. 89, 99, 478 

S.E.2d 45 (1996); Larsen v. Philadelphia Newspapers, 411 Pa. Super 534, 547, 602 A.2d 

324, 331 (1991).  Absent allegations of knowing participation and active assistance by 

the DP Defendants, this Court should soundly reject Plaintiffs’ additional attempts to 

amend the Complaint through briefing and dismiss Plaintiffs’ Tenth Cause of Action for 

this reason as well.   

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons set forth herein, as well as those set forth in the DP Defendants’ 

Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Dismiss, Dilworth Paxson LLP and Timothy 

B. Anderson respectfully submit that their Motion to Dismiss should be granted. 

       LEWIS BABCOCK L.L.P. 

       /s/ Keith M. Babcock   
       Keith M. Babcock, Federal I.D. 1143 
       David L. Paavola, Federal I.D. 11713 

1513 Hampton Street 
       Post Office Box 11208 
       Columbia, South Carolina 29211 
       Telephone: (803) 771-8000 
       Facsimile: (803) 733-3534 
       kmb@lewisbabcock.com 
 
       Attorneys for Defendants 
       Dilworth Paxson LLP and 
       Timothy B. Anderson 
Dated:  March 27, 2017 
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